
11. NIGER 

A. The Originul Niger Repurting 

Reporting on a possible uranium yellowcake’ sales agreement between Niger and 
Iraq first came to the attention of the US.  Intelligence Community (IC) on October 15,2001. 
The Central Intelligence Agency’s (CIA) Directorate of Operations (DO) issued an intelligence 
report fiom a foreign government service indicating that Niger planned to 
ship several tons of uranium to Iraq -. The intelligence report said the uranium sales 
agreement had been in negotiation between the two countries since at least early 1999, and was 
approved by the State Court of Niger in late 2000. According to the cable, Nigerien President 
Mamadou Tandja gave his stamp of approval for the agreement and communicated his decision 
to Iraqi President Saddam Hussein. The report also indicated that in October 2000 Nigerien 
Minister of Foreign Affairs Nassirou Sabo informed one of his ambassadors in Europe that Niger 
had concluded an 

-
accord to provide several tons of uranium to Iraq. --

m 
(U) At the time, all IC analysts interviewed by Committee staff considered this initial 

report to be very limited and lacking needed detail. CIA, Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA) and 
Department of Energy (DOE) analysts considered the reporting to be “possible” while the 
Department of State’s Bureau of Intelligence and Research (INR) regarded the report as “highly 
suspect,” primarily because INR analysts did not believe that Niger would be likely to engage in 
such a transaction and did not believe Niger would be able to transfer uranium to Iraq because a 
French consortium maintained control of the Nigerien uranium industry. 

(U) Only the CIA wrote a finished intelligence product on the report (Senior Executive 
Intelligence Brief [SEIB],Iraq: Nuclear-Related Procurement Eforts, October 18, 200 1). 
Regarding the Niger reporting the SEIB said: 

According to a foreign government service, Niger as of early this year planned to 
send several tons of uranium to Iraq under an agreement concluded late last year. 

Yellowcake is extracted from uranium ore through a milling and solvent extraction process. Yellowcake 
requires further processing before it can be used as reactor fuel or in a nuclear weapon. 
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Iraq and Niger had been negotiating the shipment since at least early 1999, but the 
state court of Niger only this year approved it, according to the service. 

-There is no corroboration from other sources that such an 
agreement was reached or that uranium was transferred. 

-United Nations Security Council (UNSC) Resolution 687 
prohibits Iraq from purchasing uranium, although the transfer 
would not require the application of safeguards. 

In view of the origin, the uranium probably is in the form of yellowcake and will 
need further processing to be used in an uranium enrichment plant. Iraq has no 
known facilities for processing or enriching the material. 

-The quantity of yellowcake to be transferred could support the 
enrichment of enough uranium for at least one nuclear weapon. 

@) On November 20,2001, U.S. Embassy Niamey disseminated a cable on a recent 
meeting between the ambassador and the Director General of Niger’s French-led consortium. 
The Director General said “there was no possibility” that the government of Niger had diverted 
any of the 3,000 tons of yellowcake produced in its two uranium mines. 

m)Reporting on the uranium transaction did not surface again until February 5,2002 
when the CIA’SDO issued a second intelligence report -which again cited the 
source as a “‘[foreign]government service.” Although not identified in the report, this source was 
also from the foreign service. The second report provided more details about the previously 
reported Iraq-Niger uranium agreement and provided what was said to be “verbatim text” of the 
accord. 

agreement regardine the sale of uranium during meetings held July 5-62000. The reportU U U Y Y 

indicated that 500 tons of uranium per year 
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IC analysts at the CIA and the DIA were more impressed with the detail and 
substance of the second report. One analyst noted that the report provided much more 
information than they had seen previously in similar reporting about alleged uranium transactions 
to other countries. INR analysts continued to doubt the accuracy of the reporting, again because 
they thought Niger would be unwilling and unable to sell uranium to Iraq and because they 
thought Iraq would be unlikely to risk such a transaction when they were “bound to be caught.’’ 
Because of these doubts. an INR analvst asked the CIA whether the source of the report could 

~ 

source and says he was told by the CIA’s DO that the report was from a “very credible source.”-m)Several analysts interviewed by Committee staff also pointed out that information 
in the second intelligence report matched 

reporting fiom 1999 which showed that an Algerian businessman, Baraka, was 

Based on information from the CIA report fiom the foreign service, on 
February 12,2002, the DIA wrote a finished intelligence product titled Niamey signed an 
agreement to sell 500 tons ofuranium a year to Baghdad (NMJIC pational Military Joint 
Intelligence Center] Executive Highlight, VolO28-02, February12, 2002). The product outlined 
the details in the DO intelligence report, namely, that Niger had agreed to deliver 500 tons of 
yellowcake uranium to Iraq 1.The piece concluded that “Iraq probably is 
searching abroad for natural uranium to assist in its nuclear weapons program.” The product did 
not include any judgments about the credibility of the reporting. 

m)After reading the DIA report, the Vice President asked his morning briefer for 
the CIA’s analysis of the issue. In response, the Director of Central Intelligence’s (DCI) Center 
for Weapons Intelligence, Nonproliferation, and Arms Control (WINPAC) published a Senior 
Publish When Ready (SPWR021402-OS),an intelligence assessment with limited distribution, 
which said, “informationon the alleged uranium contract between Iraq and Niger comes 
exclusively from a foreign government service report that lacks crucial details, and we are 
working to clarify the information and to determine whether it can be corroborated.” The piece 
discussed the details of the DO intelligence report and indicated that “some of the information in 
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the report contradicts reporting from the U.S. Embassy in Niamey. U S .  diplomats say the 
French Government-led consortium that operates Niger’s two uranium mines maintains complete 
control over uranium mining and yellowcake production.” The CIA sent a separate version of 
the assessment to the Vice President which differed only in that it named the foreign government 
service -. 

B. Former Ambassador 

m)Officials from the CIA’s DO CounterproliferationDivision (CPD) told 
Committee staff that in response to questions from the Vice President’s Office and the -Departments of State and Defense on the alleged Iraq-Niger uranium deal, CPD officials 
discussed ways to obtain additional information. 1-

who could make immediate inquiries into the reporting, CPD decided to contact a 
former ambassador to Gabon who had a posting early in his career in Niger. 

a)Some CPD officials could not recall how the office decided to contact the former 
ambassador, however, interviews and documents provided to the Committee indicate that his 
wife, a CPD employee, suggested his name for the trip. The CPD reports officer told Committee 
staff that the former ambassador’s wife “offered up his name” and a memorandum to the Deputy 
Chief of the CPD on February 12,2002, from the former ambassador’s wife says, “my husband 
has good relations with both the PM [prime minister] and the former Minister of Mines (not to 
mention lots of French contacts), both of whom could possibly shed light on this sort of activitv.” 
This was just one day before CPD sent a cable -requesting concurreke 
with CPD’s idea to send the former ambassador to Niger and requesting any additional 
information from the foreign government service on their uranium reports. The former 
ambassador’s wife told Committee staff that when CPD decided it would like to send the former 
ambassador to Niger, she approached her husband on behalf of the CIA and told him “there’s this 
crazy report” on a purported deal for Niger to sell uranium to Iraq. 

m)The former ambassador had traveled previously to Niger on the CIA’s behalf 1 
4,.The former ambassador was selected for the 1999 trip after his wife 
mentioned to her supervisors that her husband was planning a business trip to Niger in the near 
hture and might be willing to use his contacts in the region -
-. Because the former ambassador did not uncover any information about -
during this visit to Niger, CPD did not distribute an intelligencereport on the visit. 
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(U) On February 18,2002, the embassy in Niger disseminated a cable which reported that 
the alleged Iraq-Niger uranium deal “provides sufficient detail to warrant another hard look at 
Niger’s uranium sales. The names of GON [government of Niger] officials cited in the report 
track closely with those we know to be in those, or closely-related positions. However, the 
purported 4,000-ton annual production listed is fully 1,000 tons more than the mining companies 
claim to have produced in 2001.” The report indicated that the ambassador had met with the 
Nigerien Foreign Minister to ask for an unequivocal assurance that Niger had stuck to its 
commitment not to sell uranium to rogue states. The cable also noted that in September 2001 the 
Nigerien Prime Minister had told embassy personnel that there were buyers like Iraq who would 
pay more for Niger’s uranium than France, but the Prime Minister added, “of course Niger 
cannot sell to them.” The cable concluded that despite previous assurances from Nigerien 
officials that no uranium would be sold to rogue nations, “we should not dismiss out of hand the 
possibility that some scheme could be, or has been, underway to supply Iraq with yellowcake 
from here.” The cable also suggested raising the issue with the French, who control the uranium 
mines in Niger, despite France’s solid assurances that no uranium could be diverted to rogue 
states. 

(U) On February 19,2002, CPD hosted a meeting with the former ambassador, 
intelligence analysts from both the CIA and INR, and several individuals fi-omthe DO’SAfrica 
and CPD divisions. The purpose of the meeting was to discuss the merits of the former 
ambassador traveling to Niger. An INR analyst’s notes indicate that the meeting was “apparently 
convened by [the former ambassador’s] wife who had the idea to dispatch [him] to use his 
contacts to sort out the Iraq-Niger uranium issue.” The former ambassador’s wife told 
Committee staff that she only attended the meeting to introduce her husband and left after about 
three minutes. 

(U) The lNR analyst’s meeting notes and electronic mail (e-mail) from other participants 
indicate that INR explained its skepticism that the alleged uranium contract could possibly be 
carried out due to the fact that it would be very difficult to hide such a large shipment of 
yellowcake and because “the French appear to have control of the uranium mining, milling and 
transport process, and would seem to have little interest in selling uranium to the Iraqis.” The 
notes also indicate that lNR believed that the embassy in Niger had good contacts and would be 
able to get to the truth on the uranium issue, suggesting a visit from the former ambassador 
would be redundant. Other meeting participants argued that the trip would do little to clarify the 
story on the alleged uranium deal because the Nigeriens would be unlikely to admit to a uranium 
sales agreement with Iraq, even if one had been negotiated. An e-mail fiom a WJNPAC analyst 
to CPD following the meeting noted “it appears that the results from this source will be suspect 
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at best, and not believable under most scenarios.” CPD concluded that with no other options, 
sending the former ambassador to Niger was worth a try. 

(U) The TNR analyst’s notes also indicate that specific details of the classified report on 
the Iraq-Niger uranium deal were discussed at the meeting, as well as whether analysts believed 
it was plausible that Niger would be capable of delivering such a large quantity of uranium to 
Iraq. The CIA has told Committee staff that the former ambassador did not have a “formal” 
security clearance but had been given an “operational clearance” up to the Secret level for the 
purposes of his potential visit to Niger. 

On February 20,2002, CPD provided the former ambassador with talking points 
for his use with contacts in Niger. The talking points were general, asking officials if Niger had 
been amroached, conducted discussions, or entered into any agreements concerning uranium 

1 1  


transfers with any ”countries of concern” -1. ?he talking 
points also focused on whether any uranium might be missing from Niger or might have been 
transferred and asked how Niger accounts for all of its uranium each year. The talking points did 
not refer to the specific reporting on the alleged Iraq-Niger uranium deal, did not mention names 
or dates from the reporting, and did not mention that there was any such deal being reported in 
intelligence channels. DO officials told Committee staff that they promised the former 
ambassador that they would keep his relationship with CIA confidential,but did not ask the 
former ambassador to do the same and did not ask him to sign a confidentialityor non-disclosure 
agreement. The former ambassador left for Niger on February 21,2002. 

(U) On February 24,2002, the U.S. Embassy in Niamey disseminated a cable (NIAMEY 
000262) describing a meeting between the U.S. Ambassador to Niger, Barbro Owens-
Kirkpatrick, Deputy Commander, European Command, General Carlton Fulford, Niger’s 
President, Mamadou Tandja and Foreign Minister Kichatou Mindaoudou. General Fulford had 
previously scheduled a routine refueling stop and brief meeting with Nigerien officials at the 
request of Ambassador Owens-Kirkpatrick. Ambassador Owens-Kirkpatrick told Committee 
staff that she routinely encouraged visitors to Western Africa to make refueling stops in Niger. 
She said “when you are assigned to a place like Niger, which is not exactly the center of the 
universe . . .you take everything you can get. And I worked very hard to make Niger the best 
refueling stop in Africa.” When the Iraq-Niger uranium reporting surfaced in early February, 
Ambassador Owens-Kirkpatrick decided to ask General Fulford to use the previously scheduled 
meeting to raise the uranium issue with Nigerien officials. Ambassador Owens-Kirkpatrick 
prepared talking points for General Fulford to use during his visit and the CIA coordinated on the 
talking points. 
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a)At the meeting, Nigerien President Tandia assured the ambassador and General 

the comment section of the cable, the embassy noted that in the past, “previous Nigerien 
governments have suggested that the best way the [U.S. government] could keep Niger’s 
uranium from the wrong hands” was for the U.S. to purchase it. Ambassador Owens-Kirkpatrick 
told Committee staff that during her meetings with Nigerien officials, she never asked whether 
the officials had been approached by any countries to purchase uranium. She said, “we raised the 
issue in more general terms rather than specifics.” 

(U)On February 26,2002, the former ambassador arrived in Niger. He told Committee 
staff that he first met with Ambassador Owens-Kirkpatrick to discuss his upcoming meetings. 
Ambassador Owens-Kirkpatrick asked him not to meet with current Nigerien officials because 
she believed it might complicate her continuing diplomatic efforts with them on the uranium 
issue. The former ambassador agreed to restrict his meetings to former officials and the private 
sector. 

The former ambassador told Committee staff that he met with the forrner Nigerien 
Prime Minister, the former Minister of Mines and Energy, and other business contacts. At the 
end of his visit, he debriefed Ambassador Owens-Kirkpatrick -1 
-, Chad. He told Committee staff that he had told both U.S.officials he thought there 
was “nothing to the story.” Ambassador Owens-Kirkpatrick told Committee staff she recalled 
the former ambassador saying “he had reached the same conclusions that the embassy had 
reached, that it was highly unlikely that anything was going on.’’ 

(U) On March 1, 2002, INR published an intelligence assessment, Niger: Sale of 
Uranium to Iraq Is Unlikely. The INR analyst who drafted the assessment told Committee staff 
that he had been told that the piece was in response to interest from the Vice President’s office in 
the alleged Iraq-Niger uranium deal. The assessment reiterated INR’s view that France 
controlled the uranium industry and “would take action to block a sale of the kind alleged in a 
CIA report of questionable credibility from a foreign government service.” The assessment 
added that “some officials may have conspired for individual gain to arrange a uranium sale,” but 
considered President Tandja’s government unlikely to risk relations with the U.S. and other key 
aid donors. In a written response to a question from Committee staff on this matter, the 
Department of State said the assessment was distributed through the routine distribution process 
in which intelligence documents are delivered to the White House situation room, but State did 
not provide the assessment directly to the Vice President in a special delivery. 
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d)In early March 2002, the Vice President asked his morning briefer for an update on 
the Niger uranium issue. In response, on March 5,2002, WINPAC analysts sent an analytic 
update to the briefer which noted that the government of Niger said it was making all efforts to 
ensure that its uranium would be used for only peaceful purposes. The update said the foreign 
government service that provided the original report “was unable to provide new information, but 
continues to assess that its source is reliable.” The update also noted that the CIA would “be 
debriefing a source who may have information related to the alleged sale on March 5.” 

(U) Later that day, two CIA DO officers debriefed the former ambassador who had 
returned from Niger the previous day. The debriefing took place in the former ambassador’s 
home and although his wife was there, according to the reports officer, she acted as a hostess and 
did not participate in the debrief. Based on information provided verbally by the former 
ambassador, the DO case officer wrote a draft intelligence report and sent it to the DO reports 
officer who added additional relevant information from his notes. 

(U) The intelligence report based on the former ambassador’s trip was disseminated on 
March 8,2002. The report did not identify the former ambassador by name or as a former 
ambassador,but described him as “a contact with excellent access who does not have an 
established reporting record.” The report also indicted that the “subsources of the following 
information knew their remarks could reach the U. S. government and may have intended to 
influence as well as inform.” DO officials told Committee staff that this type of description was 
routine and was done in order to protect the former ambassador as the source of the information, 
which they had told him they would do. DO officials also said they alerted WINPAC analysts 
when the report was being disseminatedbecause they knew the “high priority of the issue.” The 
report was widely distributed in routine channels. 

The intelligence report indicated that former Nigerien Prime Minister Ibrahim 
Mayaki was unaware of any contracts that had been signed between Niger and any rogue states 
for the sale of yellowcake while he was Prime Minister (1997-1999) or Foreign Minister (1996-
1997). Mavaki said that if there had been any such contract during his tenure, he would have~- -

/ ~-

been aware’of it. Mayaki said, however, that in June 1999, ,-

businessman, approached him and insisted that Mayaki meet with an Iraqi delegation to discuss 
“expanding commercial relations” between Niger and Iraq. The intelligencereport said that 
Mayaki interpreted “expanding commercial relations” to mean that the delegation wanted to 
discuss uranium yellowcake sales. The intelligence report also said that “although the meeting 
took place, Mayaki let the matter drop due to the UN sanctions on Iraq.” 
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The intelligence report also said that Niger’s former Minister for Energy and 
Mines ,Mai Manga, stated that there 

~ ~~ 

were no sales outside of International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) channels since the mid-
1980s. He knew of no contracts signed between Niger and any rogue states for the sale of 
uranium. He said that an Iranian delegation was interested in purchasing 400 tons of yellowcake 
from Niger in 1998, but said that no contract was ever signed with Iran. Mai Manga also 
described how the French mining consortium controls Nigerien uranium mining and keeps the 
uranium very tightly controlled from the time it is mined until the time it is loaded onto ships in 
Benin for transport overseas. Mai Manga believed it would be difficult, if not impossible, to 
arrange a special shipment of uranium to a pariah state given these controls. 

(U) In an interview with Committee staff, the former ambassador was able to provide 
more information about the meeting between former Prime Minister Mayaki and the Iraqi 
delegation. The former ambassador said that Mayaki did meet with the Iraqi delegation but never 
discussed what was meant by “expanding commercial relations.” The former ambassador said 
that because Mayaki was wary of discussing any trade issues with a country under United 
Nations (UN) sanctions, he made a successfhl effort to steer the conversationaway from a 
discussion of trade with the Iraqi delegation. 

d)When the former ambassador spoke to Committee staff, his description of his findings 
differed from the DO intelligence report and his account of information provided to him by the 
CIA differed from the CIA officials’ accounts in some respects. First, the former ambassador 
described his findings to Committee staff as more directly related to Iraq and, specifically, as 
refuting both the possibility that Niger could have sold uranium to Iraq and that Iraq approached 
Niger to purchase uranium. The intelligence report described how the structure of Niger’s 
uranium mines would make it difficult, if not impossibIe, for Niger to sell uranium to rouge 
nations, and noted that Nigerien officials denied knowledge of any deals to sell uranium to any 
rogue states, but did not refute the possibility that Iraq had approached Niger to purchase 
uranium. Second, the former ambassador said that he discussed with his CIA contacts which 
names and signatures should have appeared on any documentationof a legitimate uranium 
transaction. In fact, the intelligence report made no mention of the alleged Iraq-Niger uranium 
deal or signatures that should have appeared on any documentationof such a deal. The only 
mention of Iraq in the report pertained to the meeting between the Iraqi delegation and former 
Prime Minister Mayaki. Third, the former ambassador noted that his CIA contacts told him there 
were documents pertaining to the alleged Iraq-Niger uranium transaction and that the source of 
the information was the =intelligence service. The DO reports officer told Committee staff 
that he did not provide the former ambassador with any information about the source or details of 
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the original reporting as it would have required sharing classified information and, noted that 
there were no “documents” circulating in the IC at the time of the former ambassador’s trip, only 
intelligence reports from =intelligence regarding an alleged Iraq-Niger uranium deal. 
Meeting notes and other correspondence show that details of the reporting were discussed at the 
February 19,2002 meeting, but none of the meeting participants recall telling the former 
ambassador the source of the report -

(U) The former ambassador also told Committee staff that he was the source of a 
Washington Post article (“CIA Did Not Share Doubt on Iraq Data; Bush Used Report of Uranium 
Bid,” June 12,2003) which said, “among the Envoy’s conclusions was that the documents may 
have been forged because ‘the dates were wrong and the names were wrong.”’ Committee staff 
asked how the former ambassador could have come to the conclusion that the “dates were wrong 
and the names were wrong” when he had never seen the CIA reports and had no knowledge of 
what names and dates were in the reports. The former ambassador said that he may have 
“misspoken”to the reporter when he said he concluded the documents were “forged.” He also 
said he may have become conhsed about his own recollection after the International Atomic 
Energy Agency (IAEA) reported in March 2003 that the names and dates on the documents were 
not correct and may have thought he had seen the names himself. The former ambassador 
reiterated that he had been able to collect the names of the government officials which should 
have been on the documents. 

(U) The former ambassador told Committee staff that he had no direct knowledge of how 
the information he provided was handled by the CIA, but, based on his previous government 
experience, he believed that the report would have been distributed to the White House and that 
the Vice President received a direct response to his question about the possible uranium deal. He 

. I

said, 

Whether or not there was a specific response to the specific question the Vice 
President asked I don’t know for a fact, other than to know, having checked with 
my own memory when I was in the White House at the National Security Council 
. . . any time an official who i s  senior enough to ask that question, that official was 
senior enough to have a very specific response. The question then becomes 
whether the response came back as a telephone call, a non-paper- in other words, 
talking points - or orally briefed, or a specific cable in addition to the more 
general report that is circulated.” 
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6,The CIA’s DO gave the former ambassador’s infomation a grade of “good,” which 
means that it added to the IC’s body of understanding on the issue, 3
1-1. The possible grades are unsatisfactory, satisfactory,good, 
excellent, and outstanding, which, according to the Deputy Chief of CPD, a e  very subiective. 

“good” grade was merited because the information responded to at least some of the outstanding 
questions in the Intelligence Community, but did not provide substantial new information. He 
said he judged that the most important fact in the report was that the Nigerien officials admitted 
that the Iraqi delegation had traveled there in 1999, and that the Nigerien Prime Minister believed 
the Iraqis were interested in purchasing uranium, because this provided some confirmation of 
foreign government service reporting. 

(U) IC analysts had a fairly consistent response to the intelligencereport based on the 
former ambassador’s trip in that no one believed it added a great deal of new information to the 
Iraq-Niger uranium story. An INR analyst said when he saw the report he believed that it 
corroborated the INR’s position, but said that the “report could be read in different ways.” He 
said the report was credible, but did not give it a lot of attention because he was busy with other 
things. 

(U) DIA and CIA analysts said that when they saw the intelligence report they did not 
believe that it supplied much new information and did not think that it clarified the story on the 
alleged Iraq-Niger uranium deal. They did not find Nigerien denials that they had discussed 
uranium sales with Iraq as very surprising because they had no expectationthat Niger would 
admit to such an agreement if it did exist. The analysts did, however, find it interestingthat the 
former Nigerien Prime Minister said an Iraqi delegation had visited Niger for what he believed 
was to discuss uranium sales. 

(U) Because CIA analysts did not believe that the report added any new information to 
clarify the issue, they did not use the report to produce any further analytical products or 
highlight the report for policymakers. For the same reason, CIA’s briefer did not brief the Vice 
President on the report, despite the Vice President’s previous questions about the issue. 
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m)On March 25,2002, the DO issued a third and final intelligence report from the 
same “[foreign] government service.” The report said that the 2000 agreement by Niger to 
provide uranium to Iraq specified that 500 tons of uranium per year would be delivered in 

As in the two previous reports, the government service was not identified as the 
foreign government service. The foreign government service did not provide the DO with 
information about its source and the DO, to date, remains uncertain as to how the foreign 
government service collected the information in the three intelligence reports. There were no 
obvious inconsistencies in the names of officials mentioned or the dates of the transactions in any 
of the three reports. Of the seven names mentioned in the reporting, two were former high 
ranking officials who were the individuals in the positions described in the reports at the time 
described and five were lower ranking officials. Of the five lower ranking, two were not the 
individuals in the positions described in the reports, however, these do not appear to be names or 
positions with which intelligence analysts would have been familiar. For example, an INR 
analyst who had recently returned from a position as Deputy Chief of Mission at the U.S. 
Embassy in Niger told Committee staff that he did not notice any inconsistencieswith the names 
of the officials mentioned. The only mistake in any of the reports regarding dates, is that one 
date, July 7,2000, is said to be a Wednesday in the report, but was actually a Friday. 

C. Continuing Analysis 

d> Throughout the time the Niger reports were being disseminated,the =CIA Iraq 
nuclear analyst said he had discussed the issue with his INR colleague and was aware that INR 
disagreed with the CIA’Sposition. He said they discussed Niger’s uranium production rates and 
whether Niger could have been diverting any yellowcake. He said that he and his INR 
counterpart essentially “agreed to disagree” about whether Niger could supply uranium to Iraq. 
The CIA analyst said he assessed at the time that the intelligence showed both that Iraq may have 
been trying to procure uranium in Africa and that it was possible Niger could supply it. He said 
his assessment was bolstered by several other intelligence reports on Iraqi interest in uranium 
from other countries in Africa.6 
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(U) On May 10,2002, the CIA’S Office of Near Eastern and South Asian Analysis 
(NESA) in the Directorate of Intelligence (DI) prepared a Principals Committee briefing book 
updating the status of Iraqi weapons of mass destruction (WMD) programs. The document noted 
that a “foreign government service says Iraq was trying to acquire 500 tons of uranium from 
Niger.?’ 

(U) On June 24,2002, the U.S. Embassy in Niamey published a cable, Niger’s Uranium: 
GONSigns IAEA Accord, But Keeps Looking fop.New Buyers as Price Fulls. The cable reported 
that, following prolonged lobbying, on June 10,2002, the government of Niger signed a 
comprehensive safeguards agreement with the IAEA. The cable indicated that the agreement 
would help ensure that Niger’s uranium production is only used for “peaceful purposes.” 

(U) On July 22,2002, the DOE published an intelligenceproduct (Daily Intelligence 
Highlight, Nuclear Reconstitution Efforts Underway?) which highlighted the intelligence on the 
Iraq-Niger uranium deal as one of three indications that Iraq might be reconstituting its nuclear 
program. The report added that there was ‘‘no information indicating that any of the uranium 
shipments arrived in Iraq,’?and suggested that the “amount of uranium specified far exceeds what 
Iraq would need even for a robust nuclear weapons program.” 

(U) On August 1,2002 CIA NESA published a paper on Iraq’s weapons of mass 
destruction (WMD) capabilities which did not include the alleged Iraq-Niger uranium 
information. 

(U) In September 2002, the DIA published an intelligence assessment (Defense 
Intelligence Assessment, Iraq s Reemerging Nuclear Program) which outlined Iraq’s recent 
efforts to rebuild its nuclear program. The report focused on a variety of issues related to Iraq’s 
nuclear efforts, including procurement efforts, nuclear facilities, consolidation of scientists and 
uranium acquisition. On the latter issue, the assessment said “Iraq has been vigorously trying to 
procure uranium ore and yellowcake.” The report described the intelligence on the Iraq-Niger 
uranium deal and several other intelligence reports on Iraqi efforts to acquire uranium from 
Somalia and the Democratic Republic of the Congo. The assessment said that “DIA cannot 
confirm whether Iraq succeeded in acquiring uranium ore and/or yellowcake from these sources.” 
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(U) In a written response to questions from Committee staff, the White House said that on 
September 11,2002,National Security Council (NSC) staff contacted the CIA to clear language 
for possible use in a statement for use by the President. The language cleared by the CIA said, 
“Iraq has made several attempts to buy high strength aluminum tubes used in centrifuges to 
enrich uranium for nuclear weapons. And we also know this: within the past few years, Iraq has 
resumed efforts to obtain large quantities of a type of uranium oxide known as yellowcake, which 
is an essential ingredient of this process. The regime was caught trying to purchase 500 metric 
tons of this material. It takes about 10 tons to produce enough enriched uranium for a single 
nuclear weapon.” The text was identical to the text proposed by the White House except that the 
CIA had suggested adding “up to” before 500 metric tons. The President never used the 

- .. 1approved language publicly. 
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(U) In a response to questions from Committee staff, the White House said that on 
September 24,2002, NSC staff contacted the CIA to clear another statement for use by the 
President. The statement said, “we also have intelligencethat Iraq has sought large amounts of 
uranium and uranium oxide, known as yellowcake, from Africa. Yellowcake is an essential 
ingredient of the process to enrich uranium for nuclear weapons.” The CIA cleared the language, 
but suggested that “of the process” be changed to “in the process.” The President did not use the 
cleared language publicly. 

(U) Some time in September a member of the NSC staff discussed the Niger uranium 
issue with a CIA analyst. The CIA analyst told committee staff that during coordination of a 
speech (he was not sure which one) with an NSC staff member, the CIA analyst suggested that 
the reference to Iraqi attempts to acquire uranium from Africa be removed. The CIA analyst said 
the NSC staff member said that would leave the British “flapping in the wind.” In a written 
response to a question about this matter from the Committee, the NSC staff member said that the 
CIA analyst did not suggest that he remove text regarding Iraqi attempts to acquire uranium from 
Africa. The NSC staff member said the analyst suggested that Saddam’smeeting with his 
“nuclear mujahedin” was more compelling evidence of Iraq’s effort to resurrect the Iraqi nuclear 
program than attempts to acquire yellowcake, but said the analyst never suggested that the 
yellowcake text be removed. He said he had no recollection of telling a CIA analyst that 
replacing the uranium reference would leave the British “flapping in the wind” and said such a 
statement would have been illogical since the President never presented in any one speech every 
detail of intelligence gathered on Iraq either by the U.S. or by the U.K. 

E. The National Intelligence Estimate 

At the same time ,the 
IC was preparing the National Intelligence Estimate (NIE) on Iraq ’s Continuing Programsfor 
Weaponsof Mass Destruction. In mid-September 2002, in both hearings and in letters, Members 
of the Senate Select Committee on Intelligence (SSCI) requested that the CIA publish an NIE on 
Iraq’s weapons of mass destruction (WMD) programs. Committee Members expressed concerns 
that they would be expected to vote on an Iraq Resolution shortly and had no NIE on which to 
base their vote. 
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(U) On September 12,2002, the DCI officially directed the National Intelligence Officer 
for Strategic and Nuclear Programs to begin to draft an NIE. The National Intelligence 

Council (NIC) staff drew the discussion of nuclear reconstitution for the draft NIE largely from 
an August 2002 CIA assessment and a September 2002 DIA assessment,Iraq s Reemerging 
Nuclear Weapons Programs. The NIO sent a draft of the entire NIE to IC analysts on September 
23,2002 for coordination and comments and held an interagency coordination meeting on 
September 25,2002 to discuss the draft and work out any changes. 

(U) Regarding uranium from Africa, the language of the NIE said: 

Iraq has about 550 metric tons of yellowcake and low-enriched uranium at 
Tuwaitha, which is inspected annually by the IAEA. Iraq also began vigorously 
trying to procure uranium ore and yellowcake; acquiring either would shorten the 
time Baghdad needs to produce nuclear weapons. 

0 	 A foreign government service reported that as of early 2001, Niger 
planned to send several tons of “pure uranium” (probably yellowcake) to 
Iraq. As of early 2001, Niger and Iraq reportedly were still working out 
arrangements for this deal, which could be for up to 500 tons of 
yellowcake. We do not know the status of this arrangement. 

0 	 Reports indicate Iraq has also sought uranium ore from Somalia and 
possibly the Democratic Republic of the Congo. 

We cannot confirm whether Iraq succeeded in acquiring uranium ore and/or 
yellowcake from these sources. 

(U) At the NIE coordination meeting, the only analyst who voiced disagreement with the 
uranium section was an INR analyst. Several analysts from other agencies told Committee staff 
that they did not recall even discussing the uranium reporting at the meeting. All of the analysts 
said that the bulk of the time at the meeting was spent debating other issues such as the 
aluminum tubes, time lines for weapons designs, and procurement of magnets and other dual use 
items. CIA, DIA and DOE analysts all said that at the time the NIE was written, they agreed with 
the NIE assessment that Iraq was attempting to procure uranium from Africa. Some analysts 
said, in retrospect, the language should have been more qualified than it was, but they generally 
agreed with the text. 
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(U) The uranium text was included only in the body of the NIE, not in the key judgments 
section because the interagency consensus was that Iraq’s efforts to acquire uranium were not key 
to the argument that Iraq was reconstituting its nuclear program. According to the NIO, the key 
judgments were drawn from a CIA paper which only highlighted the acquisition of aluminum 
tubes as the reason Iraq was reconstituting its nuclear program. The NIO said that at the NIE 
coordination meeting, analysts added other reasons they believed Iraq was reconstituting, such as 
acquiring magnets, machine tools, and balancing machines, and reestablishing Iraq’s nuclear 
scientists cadre. When someone, the NIO was not sure suggested that the uranium 
information be included as another sign of reconstitution, the INR Iraq nuclear analyst spoke up 
and said that he did not agree with the uranium reporting and that INR would be including text 
indicating their disagreement in their footnote on nuclear reconstitution. The NIO said he did not 
recall anyone else at the coordination meeting who disagreed with the uranium text, but also did 
not recall anyone really supporting including the uranium issue as part of the judgment that Iraq 
was reconstituting its nuclear program, so he suggested that the uranium information did not need 
to part of the key judgments. He told Committee staff he suggested that “We’ll leave it in the 
paper for completeness. Nobody can say we didn’t connect the dots. But we don’t have to put 
that dot in the key judgments.” 

(U) Because INR disagreed with much of the nuclear section of the NIE, it decided to 
convey its alternative views in text boxes, rather than object to every point throughout the NIE. 
INR prepared two separate boxes, one for the key judgments section and a two page box for the 
body of the nuclear section, which included a sentence which stated that “the claims of Iraqi 
pursuit of natural uranium in Africa are, in INR’s assessment, highly dubious.” 

(U) While formatting the final version of the NIE, the NIC staff decided to separate the 
entire aluminum tubes discussion into a separate annex that laid out each agency’s position. 
When this formatting change was made, a text box INR had previously submitted for the body of 
the NIE was split into a text box on reconstitution and a text box on the aluminum tubes. Both 
the NIO for Strategic and Nuclear Programs and the INR’s senior WMD analyst told Committee 
staff that INR’s dissent on the uranium reporting was inadvertently separated from the 
reconstitution section and included in the aluminum tubes box in the annex of the NIE. The NIC 
staff disseminated a draft of the NIE in which those changes were made on September 26,2002 

’Committee staff interviewed all of the analysts involved in coordinating the nuclear portion of the NIE and 
none could recall who suggested that Iraq’s interest in acquiring uranium from Africa be included in the key 
judgments. A DOE analysts said he could have made that suggestion, because at the time he did believe that 
uranium acquisitions attempts was an important sign of reconstitution, however, he could not be certain. 

- 53 -



for coordination. An e-mail on September 30,2002 indicates that INR made some further edits 
to their text boxes, but did not change the placement of their dissent on the uranium reporting. 
INR analysts told Committee staff they did not notice that the uranium dissent was included in 
the aluminum tube section. 

aOn October 1,2002, in preparation for an SSCI hearing on the NIE the following day, 
a CIA NESA analvst DreDared resDonses to auestions anticbated from SSCI Members. The 

(U) On October 1,2002, the NIC published the NIE on Iraq ’s Continuing Prugramsfur 
Weapons ufMass Destruction. The language on Iraq’s efforts to acquire uranium from Africa 
appeared as it did in the draft version and INR’s position that “claims of Iraqi pursuit of natural 
uranium in Africa are highly dubious” was included in a text box, separated by about 60 pages 
from the discussion of the uranium issue. 

(U) On October 2,2002, the Deputy DCI testified before the SSCI. Senator Jon Kyl 
asked the Deputy DCI whether he had read the British white paper and whether he disagreed with 
anything in the report. The Deputy DCI testified that “the one thing where I think they stretched 
a little bit beyond where we would stretch is on the points about Iraq seeking uranium from 
various African locations. We’ve looked at those reports and we don’t think they are very 
credible. It doesn’t diminish our conviction that he’s going for nuclear weapons, but I think they 
reached a little bit on that one point. Otherwise I think it’s very solid.” 

(U) On October 4,2002, the NIO for Strategic and Nuclear Programs testified before the 
SSCI. When asked by Senator Fred Thompson if there was disagreement with the British white 
paper, the NIO said that “they put more emphasis on the uranium acquisition in Africa than we 
would.” He added, “there is some information on attempts and, as we said, maybe not to this 
committee, but in the last couple of weeks, there’s a question about some of those attempts 
because of the control of the material in those countries. In one case the mine is completely 
flooded and how would they get the material. For us it’s more the concern that they have 
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uranium in-country now. It’s under inspection. It’s under control of the IAEA - the International 
Atomic Energy Agency -but they only inspect it once a year.” The NIO told Committee staff 
that he was speaking as an IC representative and was representing NR’s known view on the 
issue. He said at the time of his remarks, he did not believe that the CIA had any problem with 
the credibility of the reporting, but said the CIA may have believed that the uranium information 
should not be included in an unclassified white paper. 

(U) Also, on October 4,2002, CIA published an unclassified White Paper, Iraq ’s 
Weapons ofMass Deslruction Programs. The NIO for NESA started work on the white paper in 
the spring of 2002, well before efforts began on the classified NIE. A CIA NESA analyst drafted 
the body of the White Paper and did not include text on Iraqi attempts to acquire uranium from 
Africa. 

(U) In October 2002, CIA’s NESA published a classified Iraq handbook as a repository of 
reference material that policymakers, intelligence officers, and military personnel could easily 
access. In the section on Iraq’s nuclear program NESA wrote, “Iraq may be trying to acquire 500 
tons of uranium - enough for 50 nuclear devices after processing - from Niger.” 

F. The Cincinnati Speech 

(U) On October 4,2002, the NSC sent a draft of a speech they were preparing for the 
President to deliver in Cincinnati, Ohio. It was draft six of the speech and contained the line, 
“and the regime has been caught attempting to purchase up to 500 metric tons of uranium oxide 
from Africa - an essential ingredient in the enrichment process.” 

(U) The CIA’s former Associate Deputy Director for Intelligence (ADDI) for Strategic 
Programs, told Committee staff he was tasked by the Deputy Director for Intelligence (DDI) to 
handle coordination of the speech within the CIA. On October 5,2002, the ADDI brought 
together representatives for each of the areas of Iraq that the speech covered and asked the 
analysts to bring forward any issues that they thought should be addressed with the NSC. The 
ADDI said an Iraq nuclear analyst -he could not remember who - raised concerns about the 
sourcing and some of the facts of the Niger reporting, specifically that the control of the mines in 
Niger would have made it very difficult to get yellowcake to Iraq. 

a)Both WINPAC Iraq nuclear analysts who had followed the Iraq-Niger uranium issue 
told Committee staff they were not involved in coordinatingthe Cincinnati speech and did not 
participate in the speech coordination session on October 5,2002. The WINPAC Deputy 
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Director for Analysis also told Committee staff he did not recall being involved in the Cincinnati 
speech, but later clarified his remarks to the Committee in writing saying that he remembered 
participating in the speech, but did not recall commenting on the section of the speech dealing 
with the Niger information. Committee staff asked the CIA to identify who might have attended-the Cincinnati speech coordination meeting and raised concerns with the ADDI about the 
sourcing and facts of the Niger reporting. The CIA told Committee staff that the NESA Iraq 
analyst, 

believes he may have been the one who attended the meeting and raised concerns 
about the Niger reporting with the ADDI. 

(U) Based on the analyst’s comments, the ADDI drafted a memo for the NSC outlining 
the facts that the CIA believed needed to be changed, and faxed it to the Deputy National 
Security Advisor and the speech writers. Referring to the sentence on uranium from Africa the 
CIA said, “remove the sentence because the amount is in dispute and it is debatable whether it 
can be acquired fiom the source. We told Congress that the Brits have exaggerated this issue. 
Finally, the Iraqis already have 550 metric tons of uranium oxide in their inventory.” 

m)Later that day, the NSC staff prepared draft seven of the Cincinnati speech which 
contained the line, “and the regime has been caught attempting to purchase substantial amounts 
of uranium oxide from sources in Africa.” DraR seven was sent to CIA for coordination. 

m)The ADDI told Committee staff he received the new draft on October 6,2002 
and noticed that the uranium information had “not been addressed,” so he alerted the DCI. The 
DCI called the Deputy National Security Advisor directly to outline the CIA’Sconcerns. On July 
16,2003, the DCI testified before the SSCI that he told the Deputy National Security Advisor 
that the “President should not be a fact witness on this issue,” because his analysts had told him 
the “reporting was weak.” The NSC then removed the uranium reference from the draft of the 
speech. 

m)Although the NSC had already removed the uranium reference from the speech, 
later on October 4,2002 the CIA sent a second fax to the White House which said, “more on why 
we recommend removing the sentence about procuring uranium oxide from Africa: Three points 
(1) The evidence is weak. One of the two mines cited by the source as the location of the 
uranium oxide is flooded. The other mine cited by the source is under the control of the French 
authorities. (2) The procurement is not particularly significantto Iraq’s nuclear ambitions 
because the Iraqis already have a large stock of uranium oxide in their inventory. And (3) we 
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have shared points one and two with Congress, telling them that the Africa story is overblown 
and telling them this is one of the two issues where we differed with the British.” 

(U) On October 7,2002, President Bush delivered the speech in Cincinnati without the 
uranium reference. On the same day, the CIA prepared comments on a draft White House paper, 
A Grave and Gathering Danger. The comments suggested a change to the draft language saying 
“better to generalize the first bullet as follows: Sought uranium from Africa to feed the 
enrichment process.” The original text from the White House had said “sought uranium oxide, 
an essential ingredient in the enrichment process, from Africa.” The White House did not 
publish the paper. 

G. The Niger Documents 

On October 9,2002, an Italianjoumalist from the magazine Panorama provided 
U.S. Embassy Rome with copies of documents’ pertaining to the alleged Iraq-Niger uranium 
transaction. The journalist had acquired the documents from a source who had requested 15,000 
Euros in return for their publication, and wanted the embassy to authenticate the documents. 
Embassy officers provided copies of the documents to the CIA’S4-because the embassy, which did collect the information, was sending copies of the 
documents back to State Department headquarters. 

* a) The documents fkom the Italianjournalist are those that were later passed to the IAEA and discovered 
to have beeFforged. In March 2003, the Vice Chairman of the Committee, Senator Rockefeller, requested that the 
Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) investigate the source of the documents, $ 
=, the motivation of those responsible for the forgeries, and the extent to which the forgeries were part of a 
disinformation campaign. Because of the FBI’s investigation into this matter, the Committee did not examine these 
issues. 
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Also on October 11,2002, the US.  Embassy in Rome reported to State 
Department headquarters that it had acquired photocopies of documents on a purported uranium 
deal between Iraa and Niger from an Italian ioumalist. The cable said that the embassy had 

State Department’s Bureau of Nonproliferation (NP) on October 15,2002, which passed a copy 
of the documents to INR. 

(U) Immediately after receiving the documents, the INR Iraq nuclear analyst e-mailed IC 
colleagues offering to provide the documents at a previously planned meeting of the Nuclear 
Interdiction Action Group (NIAG) the following day. The analyst, apparently already suspicious 
of the validity of the documents noted in his e-mail, “you’ll note that it bears a funky Emb. of 
Niger stamp (to make it look official, I guess).” 

(U) The N R  Iraq nuclear analyst told Committee staff that the thing that stood out 
immediately about the documents was that a companion document - a document included with 
the Niger documents that did not relate to uranium -mentioned some type of military campaign 
against major world powers. The members of the alleged military campaign included both Iraq 
and Iran, and was, according to the documents, being orchestrated through the Nigerien Embassy 
in Rome, which all struck the analyst as “completely implausible.” Because the stamp on this 
document matched the stamp on the uranium document, the analyst thought that all of the 
documents were likely suspect. The analyst was unaware at the time of any formatting problems 
with the documents or inconsistencies with the names or dates. 

(U) On October 16,2002, INR made copies of the documents available at the NIAG 
meeting for attendees, including representatives from the CIA, DIA, DOE and NSA. Because the 
analyst who offered to provide the documents was on leave, the office’s senior analyst provided 
the documents. She cannot recall how she made the documents available, but analysts from 
several agencies, including the DIA, NSA and DOE, did pick up copies at that meeting. None of 
the four CIA representatives recall picking up the documents, however, during the CIA Inspector 
General’s investigation of this issue, copies of the documents were found in the DO’S CPD vault. 
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It appears that a CPD representative did pick up the documents at the NIAG meeting, but after 
returning to the office, filed them without any further distribution. 

The CIA told the Committee its analysts did not seek to obtain copies of the 
documents because they believed that the foreign government service reporting was verbatim text 
and did not think it would advance the story on the alleged uranium deal. One analyst noted that, 
at the time, the CIA was preparing its case -on reconstitution and since the uranium 
reporting was not significant to their argument, getting the documents was not a priority. 

(U) On November 22,2002, during a meeting with State Department officials, the French 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs Director for Nonproliferation said that France had information on an 
Iraqi attempt to buy uranium from Niger. He said that France had determined that no uranium 
had been shipped, but France believed the reporting was true that Iraq had made a procurement 
attempt for uranium from Niger. 

m)On November 25,2002, The Naval 7 -issued a very brief report (Alleged Storage of UraniumDestinedfor Iraq -
that a large quantity of uranium from Niger was 

being stored in a warehouse in Cotonou, Benin. The uranium was reportedly sold to Iraq by 
Niger’s President. The report provided the name and telephone numbers for the individual, a 
West African businessman, who was responsible for coordinatingthe alleged uranium 
transaction and indicated that he was willing to provide information about the transaction. CIA’S 
DO told Committee staff that the businessman has never been contacted and the DO has not 
made an effort to determine whether this individual had any usefbl information. The DO told 
Committee staff that they saw no reason to contact him and noted that ‘‘no one even thought to 
do that.” The Defense Humint Service (DHS) and the Navy also told Committee staff that they 
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did not try to contact the businessman. The Navy told the Committee that because they were not 
further tasked regarding their report, they did not pursue the matter further. The DHS told 
Committee staff that because the DHS examined the warehouse on December 17,2002 and saw 
only what appeared to be bales of cotton in the warehouse, they did not see a reason to contact 
the businessman. The report on the DHS’s findings was not published until February 10,2003. 
(Seepage 68) 


(U) On December 17,2002, WINPAC analysts produced a paper, US.Analysis of Iraq s 
Declaration, 7 December 2002. The paper reviewed Iraq’s “Currently Accurate, Full and 
Complete Disclosure” to the UN of its WMD programs and made only two points regarding the 
nuclear program - one noted Iraq’s failure to explain its procurement of aluminum tubes the IC 
assessed could be used in a nuclear program, and the other noted that the declaration “does not 
acknowledge efforts to procure uranium from Niger, one of the points addressed in the U.K. 
Dossier.” An e-mail from the INR Iraq nuclear analyst to a DOE analyst on December 23,2002 
indicated that the analyst was surprised that INR’s well known alternative views on both the 
aluminum tubes and the uranium information were not included in the points before they were 
transmitted to the NSC. The DOE analyst commented in an e-mail response to INR that, “it is 
most disturbing that WINPAC is essentially directing foreign policy in this matter. There are 
some very strong points to be made in respect to Iraq’s arrogant non-compliance with UN 
sanctions. However, when individuals attempt to convert those “strong statements” into the 
“knock out” punch, the Administration will ultimately look foolish - i.e. the tubes and Niger!” 

H. The Fact Sheet 

(U) On December 18,2002, the Department of State’s Assistant Secretary for the Bureau 
of Public Affairs (PA) asked the Under Secretary for Arms Control and International Security to 
help develop a response to Iraq’s December 7,2002 declaration to the UN. PA also contacted 
the State Department Bureau of Nonproliferation (NP) directly. The fact sheet was to be 
published after Ambassador John Negroponte delivered a speech to the UNSC the following 
morning, and after the Secretary of State held a press conference shortly thereafter. 

(U) Later the same day, an NP special assistant prepared a draft of the fact sheet based on 
an existing copy of Negroponte’s speech and sent the draft to the Director of WINPAC at the 
CIA for coordination. In a phone conversation with an NP special assistant, the WINPAC 
Director made a few edits, but did not change the reference to Iraq’s procurement of uranium 
from Niger. The suggested edits were outlined in a State Department e-mail and show no 
comments regarding the Niger uranium information. 
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(U) Separately, the NSC staff coordinated the Negroponte speech directly with the 
WINPAC Director and he recommended that “Niger” be replaced with “Africa” in the speech. 

At 11 2 8  a.m. on the morning of December 19,2002, NP e-mailed its draft fact sheet 
to several offices in the State Department, including INR’s Office of Analysis for Strategic, 
Proliferation, and Military Issues (SPM). NP sent the e-mail to the senior analyst in the office 
and did not indicate that there was a response deadline for comments. At 12:20 p.m. the senior 
analyst passed the fact sheet to three other analysts to solicit comments. At 1:12 p.m. the = 
Iraq nuclear analyst in SPM sent comments to NP requesting that the word “reported” be added 
before “efforts” in the sentence, “the declaration ignores efforts to procure uranium from Niger.” 
The e-mail added “as you know, INR assesses this reporting as dubious. Policymakers are 
entitled to leave out the word “reported,’but the INWSPM would not sign off on such a move.” 
The INR’s comments did not reach NP before the fact sheet had already been forwarded to the 
Office of Public Affairs. NP did not try to retrieve the document from PA to make the INR’s 
recommended change. 

(U) At about the same time, the action officer for Iraq in the State Department’s Office of 
United Nations Political Affairs (IOLJNP) responded to NP that the draft fact sheet needed to be 
vetted with WTNPAC because some items in the Negroponte speech had been changed. NP, 
aware that the fact sheet had already been cleared with WINPAC but unaware that WINPAC had 
told the NSC the prior evening to change the “Niger” reference to “Africa,” told IO/UNP that the 
fact sheet was consistent with the speech. Later that afternoon, IO/UNP responded to NP’s e-
mail, saying “didn’t we pull ‘from Niger’ from Negroponte’s comments at IC request?” By that 
time, the fact sheet had already been posted to the State Department web page. The fact sheet 
said Iraq’s declaration, “ignores efforts to procure uranium from Niger.” 

(U) According to the State Department Inspector General, shortly after the fact sheet was 
posted, NP drafted a cable to all embassies which included the fact sheet, Ambassador 
Negroponte’s speech, and Secretary Powell’s public remarks. By this time, aware that the Niger 
reference in the Negroponte speech had been changed, NP changed the text of the fact sheet that 
was included in the cable to “abroad” instead of “Niger.” None of the text was ever changed to 
qualify the uranium information as “reported” as recommended by INR. 

(U) On December 24,2002, the Nigerien Prime Minister declared publicly that Niger had 
not sold uranium to Iraq and had not been approached since he took office in 2000. Niger’s 
President and Minister of Mines also denied the sale. These comments were passed in a State 
Department cable on December 27,2002, which noted that the remarks were in response to 
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questions from local press after the State Department released its fact sheet noting Iraq’s 
declaration to the UNSC “ignores efforts to procure uranium from Niger.” 

On January 6,2003, 
the head of IAENINVO, Jacques Baute, requested information on the alleged Iraq-Niger 
uranium deal mentioned in the Department of State’s fact sheet. -

(U) On January 13,2003, the lNR Iraq nuclear analyst sent an e-mail to several IC 
analysts outlining his reasoning why, “the uranium purchase agreement probably is a hoax.” He 
indicated that one of the documents that purported to be an agreement for a joint miIitary 
campaign, including both Iraq and Iran, was so ridiculous that it was “clearly a forgery.” 
Because this document had the same alleged stamps for the Nigerien Embassy in Rome as the 
uranium documents, the analyst concluded “that the uranium purchase agreement probably is a 
forgery.” When the CIA analyst received the e-mail, he realized that WINPAC did not have 
copies of the documents and requested copies from INR. CIA received copies of the foreign 
language documents on January 16,2003. 

(U) Two CIA Iraq WINPAC analysts told Committee staff that after looking at the 
documents, they did notice some inconsistencies. One of the analysts told Committee staff, “it 
was not immediately apparent, it was not jumping out at us that the documents were forgeries.” 
The CIA then sent the documents to the State Department for translation. 

m)On January 15,2003, thirteen days before the State of the Union address, 
WINPAC provided comments on a White House paper, A Grave and Gathering Danger, saying 
“better to generalize first bullet as follows: Sought uranium from Africa to feed the enrichment 
process.” WINPAC had submitted identical language when it commented on the same paper in 
October. The paper was never published. 

On January 17,2003, eleven days before the State of the Union address, 
WINPAC published a current intelligence paper (Reguestfur Evidence of Iraq ’sNuclear 
WeaponsProgram Other Than the Aluminum Tube Procurement Effort, SPWRO11703-01) in 
response to a request from the Chairman, Joint Chiefs of Staff for information, other than the 
aluminum tubes, that showed Iraq was reconstituting its nuclear program. Regarding uranium 
acquisition, the paper said, “fragmentary reporting on Iraqi attempts to procure uranium from 
various countries in Africa in the past several years is another sign of reconstitution. Iraq has no 
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legitimate use for uranium.” The information on uranium acquisition attempts was one = 
streams of intelligenceprovided to show Iraq was reconstituting its nuclear program. 

(U) WINPAC analysts told Committee staff that, even though they were still in the 
process of analyzing the documents, their analytic position had not changed, so they believed it 
would have been premature to publish concerns about the documents without having investigated 
those concerns for themselves. One analyst said that if he were presenting CIA’Sbest evidence 
on reconstitution he would not have included the uranium infomation, but when asked what else 
we had besides the tubes, he “ratcheted” down the threshold of what was appropriate to include. 
He also indicated that the reference in the paper about efforts to acquire uranium from Africa 
were broader than the alleged Niger contract in that it included the reports on Iraqi attempts to 
acquire uranium from Somalia and the Democratic Republic of the Congo. 

(U) Other WINPAC analysts told Committee staff that by January, they had come to 
believe that if Iraq was in fact attempting to acquire uranium from Africa, it would bolster their 
argument that Iraq was reconstituting its nuclear weapons program because Iraq had no other use 
for uranium. Most of the other elements of the reconstitution case, the tubes, magnets, machine 
tools and balancing machines, were all dual-use materials, while for Iraq, uranium had only one 
potential use - a nuclear weapons program. 

(U) On January 20,2003, the President submitted a report to Congress on Iraq’s 
noncompliance with UNSC resolutions. The report stated that Iraq had failed to include in its 
declaration “attemptsto acquire uranium and the means to enrich it.” The CIA and the White 
House have told Committee staff that the IC did not coordinate on this draft. In a written 
response to a question from Committee staff, the Department of State said that their usual role 
was to prepare the pre-decisional drafts of this periodic report. Their draft, which was provided 
to the NSC on December 9,2002, did not include the language contained in the final draft on 
Iraq’s failure to declare “attempts to acquire uranium and the means to enrich it. The CIA 
Inspector General told Committee staff the text for the report had been drawn from WINPAC’s 
assessment of Iraq’s UNSC declaration. 

(U) On January 24,2003, in response to a request from the NSC for additional details 
regarding IC input to “the case for Saddam possessing weapons of mass destruction,”the NIO for 
Strategic and Nuclear Programs faxed a packet of background information to the NSC. The fax 
contained the information from the October 2002 NIE on Iraq’s vigorous attempts to procure 
uranium ore and yellowcake from Niger and other countries in Africa. The information was used 
to prepare for Secretary Powell’s presentation of intelligence to the UN in February 2003. 
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On January 24,2003, in response to a question for the Office of the Secretary of 
Defense/IntemationalSecurity Affairs for information on Nigerien uranium sales to Iraq, the DIA 
provided a background paper which described the original CIA Niger reporting and the 
November 25 Navy report on alleged storage of uranium destined for Iraq. The paper concluded 
that “DIA cannot confirm whether Iraq succeeded in acquiring uranium ore or yellowcake from 
Niger. However, sufficient time has elapsed since the commencement of the recent alleged 
uranium agreement, that we cannot discount that Iraq may have received an unknown quantity.” 
The report made no mention of the foreign language documents on the alleged uranium deal and 
did not indicate that there were any concerns about the quality of those documents. 

(U) On January 26,2003, Secretary of State Powell addressed the World Economic 
Forum in Davos, Switzerland. He said, “why is Iraq still trying to procure uranium and the 
special equipment to transform it into material for nuclear weapons?” 

m)On January 27,2003, a CIA intelligence report -indicated 
that foreign government service reported that the uranium sodium compound in storage at the 
warehouse in Cotonou, Benin was destined for France, not Iraq. The sarne report said that 
separate foreign government service had information on Iraqi attempts to obtain uranium from 
Niger, dating from 1999, but had no fwther information. The foreign government service also 
indicated that Niger had been looking to sell an old stock of uranium for years to the highest 
bidder. According to the foreign government service, other countries had expressed interest. 

I .  The State of the Union 

(U) On January 27,2003, the DCI was provided with a hardcopy draft of the State of the 
Union address at an NSC meeting. When he returned to the CIA, he passed the draft to an 
executive assistant to deliver to the office of the DDI. No one in the office of the DDI recalls 
who the point of contact for the speech was, or if a point of contact was ever named. No one 
recalled receiving parts of the speech for coordination and because the speech was hand carried, 
no electronic versions of the speech exist at the CIA. The DCI testified at a July 16,2003 
hearing that he never read the State of the Union speech. 

(U) In late January, the Director of WINPAC discussed, over the phone, the portion of the 
State of the Union draft pertaining to uranium with his NSC counterpart,the Special Assistant to 
the President for Nonproliferation. Neither individual can recall who initiated the phone call. 
Both the WTNPAC Director and NSC Special Assistant told Committee staff that the WINPAC 
Director’s concerns about using the uranium infomation pertained only to revealing sources and 
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methods and not to any concerns about the credibility of the uranium reporting. The WINPAC 
Director said because the Niger information was specifically and directly tied to a foreign 
government service, his concern was about releasing classified information in an unclassified 
speech. He told Committee staff that this had been the CIA’Slongstanding position and was the 
reason the CIA wanted the reference removed from the British white paper. Both the WINPAC 
Director and NSC Special Assistant agreed that the discussion was brief, cordial, and that they 
mutually agreed that citing the British information, which was already unclassified, was 
preferable to citing U.S. classified intelligence. 

(U) The WINPAC Director and the NSC Special Assistant disagreed, however, about the 
content of their conversation in some important respects. First, when the WINPAC Director first 
spoke to Committee staff and testified at a Committee hearing, he said that he had told the NSC 
Special Assistant to remove the words “Niger” and “500 tons” from the speech because of 
concerns about sources and methods. The NSC Special Assistant told Committee staff that there 
never was a discussion about removing “Niger” and “500 tons” from the State of the Union and 
said that the drafts of the speech show that neither “Niger” nor “500 tons” were ever in any of the 
drafts at all. He believed that the WINPAC Director had confbsed the State of the Union 
conversation with a conversation they had previously had in preparation for the Negroponte 
speech in which they did discuss removing “Niger” from the speech because of the WINPAC 
Director’s concerns about revealing sources and methods. 

(U) A few days after his testimony before the committee, the WINPAC Director found 
the draft text of the State of the Union in WINPAC’s files and noticed that it did not say “500 
tons of uranium from Niger.” In a follow up interview with Committee staff, he said that he still 
recalls the conversation the way he described it to the Committee originally, however, he 
believes that he may have confused the two conversationsbecause the documentationhe found 
does not support his version of events. The draft text of the State of the Union he found said, 
“we know that he [Saddam Hussein] has recently sought to buy uranium in Africa.” The White 
House also told the Committee that the text they sent to the CIA in January said, “we also know 
that he has recently sought to buy uranium in Africa.” 

(U) Second, the WINPAC Director also told the Committee that the NSC Special 
Assistant came up with the idea to source the uranium information to the British during their 
conversation when he was attemptingto come up with an unclassified way to use the uranium 
reporting. The NSC Special Assistant told Committee staff that the reference to the British came 
from the White House speech writers who were working to come up with publicly usable sources 
for all of the intelligence information in the speech. Because the speech writers obtained 
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information regarding Iraq’s attempts to acquire uranium from Africa from both the intelligence 
underlying the NIE and the British white paper, the speech writers sought to attribute the State of 
the Union reference to one of those sources. The NSC Special Assistant told Committee staff the 
discussion with the WINPAC Director was focused on which of the two sources would be better 
to use and that the WINPAC Director preferred sourcing the information to the British paper 
because it was unclassified. Both the WINPAC Director and NSC Special Assistant told 
Committee staff that there was never a discussion about the credibility of the information. 

(U) Finally, the two disagreed about the WTNPAC Director’s account that he had told the 
NSC Special Assistant that the CIA had urged the British to remove the uranium reference from 
their white paper, also because of concerns about sources and methods. The NSC Special 
Assistant told Committee staff that the WINPAC Director did not tell him the CIA had asked the 
British to remove the reference from their white paper. 

(U) The CIA has told the Committee in a written response that the agency did not 
coordinate with any other NSC directorates on the reference to Iraqi attempts to acquire uranium 
from Africa. 

(U) On January 28,2003, the President noted in his State of the Union address that “. . . 
the British government has learned that Saddam Hussein recently sought significant quantities of 
uranium from Africa.” At the time the President delivered the State of the Union address, no one 
in the IC had asked anyone in the White House to remove the sentence from the speech. CIA 
Iraq nuclear analysts and the Director of WINPAC told Committee staff that at the time of the 
State of the Union, they still believed that Iraq was probably seeking uranium from Africa, and 
they continued to hold that belief until the IAEA reported that the documents were forgeries. 

J.  Secretary Powell’s UN Speech 

(U) Beginning in late January the CIA, State Department, White House and NSC officials 
began to work together to draft, coordinate and clear language to be used in an upcoming U.S. 
policy speech to the United Nations Security Council (UNSC). In the early stages of the process, 
it was unclear exactly who would be delivering the speech. 

(U) At the White House’s request, the initial input for the speech came from the CIA. 
The CIA sent the input to the White House which reworked it and added additional material. In 
the final days of January and during the weekend of February 2,2003, the Secretary of State and 
officials from the State Department, White House and the CIA, met at CIA headquarters to work 
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through the issues the Secretary would address and to provide substantive clearance for the text. 
Several CIA analysts told Committee staff, and Secretary Powell has said publicly, that the 
Secretary did not want to use any information in the speech which was not supported by IC 
analysts. 

(U) According to the CIA’Sformer ADDI for Intelligence for Strategic Programs, who 
was the point person for coordinating the speech, the CIA removed some of the information that 
the White House had added to the speech, gathered from finished and raw intelligence, because 
the information was single source and uncorroborated. All of the individuals interviewed by 
Committee staff who were involved in drafting and coordinating the speech, said that they never 
saw my drafts that referenced Iraqi attempts to acquire uranium from Africa. The ADDI told 
Committee staff that a White House staffer and the Secretary asked about the uranium 
information, but after discussing the issue with a WINPAC analyst, did not want to include the 
information in the speech. Committee staff spoke to the WINPAC analyst, but he remembered 
discussing the issue with a State Department staffer, not a White House staffer. Committee staff 
interviewed the State Department staffer who said that he did ask about the uranium reporting. 
He said he asked the analysts if they had any new infomation on the reporting and, when they 
said they did not, he dropped the issue. 

-) On February 3,2003, the CIA sent a cable to 
requesting information from the foreign government service, on its January 27,2003 report 
which -had information on a Iraq-Niger uranium deal from 1999. The cable 
said, ”the issue of Iraqi uranium procurement continues to resonate with senior policymakers and 
may be part of SecState’s speech to the UN Security Council on 5 Feb 2003 if [a foreign 
governtnent service] is able to provide a contract for the 1999 uranium deal, confirm that the 

the foreign government service does not have a copy of the contract, the information was of 

dlOn Februarv 4,2003, the U.S. Government passed electronic copies of the Iraa-Niger
-I d , I U 

documents to the TAEA. 
Because the Director of the IAEA’s XNVO was in New York at the time, the U.S. Government 
also provided the documents to him in New York. Included with the documents were the US.  
Government talking points which stated, 4b- of reporting suggest Iraq has attempted to 
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acquire uranium from Niger. We cannot confirm these reports and have questions regarding 
some specific claims. Nonetheless, we are concerned that these reports may indicate Baghdad 
has attempted to secure an unreported source of uranium yellowcake for a nuclear weapons 
program.” The -of reporting mentioned refer to the original CIA intelligence reports- .  

(U) On February 5,2003, Secretary Powell briefed the UN. His speech did not mention 
Iraqi uranium procurement efforts. 

(U) On February 7,2003, the State Department’s Office of Language Services, 
Translating Division, completed the translation of the Iraq-Niger uranium documents. The State 
Department passed the translated documents to the CIA. Some signs that the documents were 
forgeries were not conveyed in the translation process. 

a)On February 10,2003, the U.S. Defense Attache in Abidjan (the capital of the African 
country, Ivory Coast) reported that its reports officer examined two warehouses in Benin 
suspected of storing uranium on route to Iraq on December 17,2002. The visit was conducted 
almost a month after a Navy report indicated uranium destined for Iraq was transiting through the 
warehouses. (See page 59) The report indicated that the warehouses appeared to contain only 
bales of cotton. A CIA operations cable on the inspection noted, however, it was not possible to 
determine if the cotton bales concealed the uranium shipment and that no radiation detection 
equipment had been used during the inspection. The DIA told Committee staff that this report 
was not published sooner because of a coup in Ivory Coast and a civil war and unrest in Liberia, 
a country for which the Defense Attache in Abidjan had temporary responsibility, occupied the 
office with other responsibilities. 
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the assessment said, “extensive documentary evidence contains several questionable details and 

managers to be policy prescriptive in that it was suggesting a course of diplomatic contact with 
the Nigerien leader. 

On February 27,2003, the CIA responded to a letter fiom Senator Carl Levin, dated 
January 29,2003, which asked the CIA to detail “what the U.S. IC knows about Saddam Hussein 
seeking significant quantities of uranium from Africa.” The CIA’s response was almost 
identical =to the U.S. Government points passed to the IAENINVO in early February, saying ‘‘W 

of reporting suggest Iraq had attempted to acquire uranium from Niger.” The response 
says the CIA believes the government of Niger’s assurances that it did not contract with Iraq but 
says, “nonetheless,we question, 1 1 , whether Baghdad may have been 
probing Niger for access to yellowcake in the 1999time frame.” The CIA’s response made no 
mention of any concerns about the validity of the documents and left out the sentence, “we 
cannot confirm these reports and have questions regarding some specific claims,” that had been 
included in the U.S. Government IAEA/INVO points. 

a)On March 3,2003, the IAEA/INVO provided 1-
U S .  Mission in Vienna with an analysis of the Niger uranium documents the US.  had 

provided the previous month. The IAENINVO concluded that the documents were forgeries and 
did not substantiate any assessment that Iraq sought to buy uranium from Niger. Their 
assessment was based on analysis of the documents and interviews with Iraqi officials. 

a)On March 4,2003, the U S .  Government learned that the French had based their 
initial assessment that Iraq had attempted to procure uranium from Niger on the same documents 

m)On March 8,2003, the DIA provided an info memo (TS-99-177-03) to the 
Secretary of Defense in response to a March 8,2003 WashingtonPost article, “Some Evidence 
on Iraq Called Fake.” The memo said, “we believe the IAEA is dismissing attempted Iraqi 
yellowcake purchases, largely based upon a single set of unverified documents concerning a 
contract between Niger and Iraq for the supply of ‘pure uranium.’ The [memo added that the] 
USG ha[d] not shared other [information] with the IAEA that suggested a Nigerien uranium deal 
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with Iraq.” The other intelligence referenced in the memo is the CIA intelligence report on the 
former ambassador’s trip, which described the Nigerien Prime Minister’s belief that an Iraqi 
delegation was interested in uranium, the Navy report from November 2002 which said uranium 
destined for Iraq was being stored in a warehouse in Cotonou, Benin, and a fax from late 2001 
found in the possession of a Somali businessman which described arrangements for shipping 
unidentified commodities in an amount that appeared similar to the amount in the Iraq-Niger 
yellowcake deal. The fax, however, did not mention uranium, Iraq, or Niger. 

m)On March 11,2003, the CIA 2assessment with limited 
distribution, “we do not dispute the IAEA Director General’s conclusion - last Friday before the 
UN Security Council - that documents on Iraq’s agreement to buy uranium from Niger are not 
authentic.” The assessment said, “[US. Government] on several occasions has cautioned IAEA 
inspectors that available information on this issue was fragmentary and unconfirmed and early 
last month told them, ‘We could not confirm these reports and have questions regarding some 
specific claims. Nonetheless, we are concerned that these reports may indicate Baghdad has 
attempted to secure an unreported source of uranium yellowcake for a nuclear weapons 
program.”’ The assessment did not say whether the CIA had changed its position that Iraq may 
have attempted to acquire uranium yellowcake from Africa. 

On March 11,2003, WINPAC drafted a current intelligence piece 
(SPWR03 1103-04) for the Secretary of Defense titled Iraq ’s Reported Interest in Buying 
Uranium From Niger and mether Associated Documents are Authentic. The piece said “we do 
not dispute the IAEA Director General’s conclusions . . .that documents on Iraq’s agreement to 
buy uranium from Niger are not authentic.” The piece also noted that the 

[U.S. Government] . . .has cautioned IAEA inspectors that available information 
on this issue was fragmentary and unconfirmed and early last month told them, 
“we could not confirm these reports and have questions regarding some specific 
claims. Nonetheless, we are concerned that these reports may indicate Baghdad 
has attempted to secure an unreported source of uranium yellowcake for a nuclear 
weapons program.” 

- A centerpiece of the British White Paper last fall was U.K. concern over 
Iraai interest in foreign uranium. Given the fi-agmentarvnature of the

L ” v 

reporting,
fl 
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(U) The piece never addressed whether the CIA had changed its previous assessment that 
Iraq may have been trying to obtain uranium from Africa. 

On April 5,2003, the NIC issued a Sense of the Community Memorandum 
(SOCM), (Niger: No Recent Uranium Sales to Iraq, NIC SOCM 2001-12.) The SOCM said, 
“we judge it highly unlikely that Niamey has sold uranium yellowcake to Baghdad in recent 
years. The IC agrees with the IAEA assessment that key documents purported showing a recent 
Iraq-Niger sales accord are a fabrication. We judge that other reports from 2002 -one alleging 
warehousing of yellowcake for shipment to Iraq, a second alleging a 1999 visit by an Iraqi 
delegation to Niamey -do not constitute credible evidence of a recent or impending sale.” The 
SOCM added, “the current government of Niger -and 
probably would report such an approach by the Iraqis, especially because a sale would violate 
UN resolution 687.” The SOCM did not say whether the IC continued to judge that Iraq had 
been “vigorously trying to procure uranium ore and yellowcake” from Africa, as indicated in the 
October 2002 NIE. To date, the IC has not published an assessment to clarify or correct its 
position on whether or not Iraq was trying to purchase uranium from Africa. 

On June 12,2003, the DIA sent an information memorandum to Deputy Secretary of 
Defense Paul Wolfowitz, in response to questions about Iraq’s nuclear program. The memo said, 
“while the Intelligence Committee agrees that documents the IAEA reviewed were likely ‘fake,’ 
other unconfirmed reporting suggested that Iraq attempted to obtain uranium and yellowcake 
from African nations after 1998.” The other reporting mentioned was the Navy report from 
November 2002, which said uranium destined for Iraq was being stored in a warehouse in 
Cotonou, Benin. 

(U) On June 17,2003, nearly five months after the President delivered the State of the 
Union address, the CIA produced a memorandum for the DCI which said, “since learning that the 
Iraq-Niger uranium deal was based on false documents earlier this spring, we no longer believe 
that there is sufficient other reporting to conclude that Iraq pursued uranium from abroad.” This 
memorandum was not distributed outside the CIA and the Committee has not been provided with 
any intelligence products in which the CIA published its corrected assessment on Iraq’s pursuit 
of uranium from Niger outside of the agency. 
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K. Niger Conclusions 

a) In March 2003, the Vice Chairman of the Committee, Senator Rockefeller,requested that the Federal 
Bureau of Investigation (FBI) investigate the source of the documents, ,the
motivation of those responsible for the forgeries, and the extent to which the forgeries were part of a disinformation 
campaign. Because of the FBI’s current investigation into this matter, the Committee did not examine these issues. 
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c 

(U) Conclusion 14- The Central Intelligence Agency should have told the Vice President 
and other senior policymakers that it had sent someone to Niger to Iook into the alleged 
Iraq-Niger uranium deal and should have briefed the Vice President on the former- - -
ambassador’s findings. 

(U) Conclusion 15- The Central Intelligence Agency’s (CIA) Directorate of Operations 
should have taken precautions not to discuss the credibility of reporting with a potential 
source when it arranged a meeting with the former ambassador and Intelligence 
Community analysts. 
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(U) Conclusion 16. The language in the October 2002 National Intelligence Estimate that 
“Iraq also began vigorously trying to procure uranium ore and yellowcake” overstated 
what the Intelligence Community knew about Iraq’s possible procurement attempts. 
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(U) Conclusion 17. The State Department’s Bureau of Intelligence and Research (INR) 
dissent on the uranium reporting was accidentally included in the aluminum tube section of 
the National Intelligence Estimate (NIE), due in part to the speed with which the NIE was 
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(U) Conclusion 21. When coordinating the State of the Union, no Central Intelligence 
Agency (CIA) analysts or officials told the National Security Council (NSC) to remove the 
“16 words” or that there were concerns about the credibility of the Iraq-Niger uranium 
reporting. A CIA official’s original testimony to the Committee that he told an NSC 
nFcnidfn remove the words “Niger” and “500 tons” from the speech, is incorrect. 
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(U) Conclusion 22. The Director of Central Intelligence (DCI) should have taken the time 
to read the State of the Union speech and fact check it himself. Had he done so, he would 
have been able to alert the National Security Council (NSC) if he still had concerns about 
the use of the Iraq-Niger uranium reporting in a Presidential speech. 

(U) Conclusion 23. The Central Intelligence Agency (CIA), Defense Humint Service 
(DHS), or the Navy should have followed up with a West African businessman, mentioned 
in a Navy report, who indicated he was willing to provide information about an alleged 
uranium transaction between Niger and Iraq in November 2002. 
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(U) Conclusion 26. To date, the Intelligence Community has not published an assessment 
to clarify or correct its position on whether or not Iraq was trying to purchase uranium 
from Africa as stated in the National Intelligence Estimate (NIE). Likewise, neither the 
Central Intelligence Agency (CIA) nor the Defense Intelligence Agency (DIA), which both 
published assessments on possible Iraqi efforts to acquire uranium, have ever published 
assessments outside of their agencies which correct their previous positions. 
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